



University of Groningen

The Synthesis of Germacrane Sesquiterpenes and Related Compounds

Minnaard, Adriaan; Wijnberg, Joannes B.P.A.; Groot, Aede de

Published in: Tetrahedron

DOI:

10.1016/S0040-4020(99)00025-3

IMPORTANT NOTE: You are advised to consult the publisher's version (publisher's PDF) if you wish to cite from it. Please check the document version below.

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Publication date:

Link to publication in University of Groningen/UMCG research database

Citation for published version (APA): Minnaard, A. J., Wijnberg, J. B. P. A., & Groot, A. D. (1999). The Synthesis of Germacrane Sesquiterpenes and Related Compounds. Tetrahedron, 55(8). DOI: 10.1016/S0040-4020(99)00025-3

Copyright

Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Downloaded from the University of Groningen/UMCG research database (Pure): http://www.rug.nl/research/portal. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to 10 maximum.

Download date: 11-02-2018

Tetrahedron 55 (1999) 2115-2146

Tetrahedron report number 484

The Synthesis of Germacrane Sesquiterpenes and Related Compounds

Adriaan J. Minnaard, Joannes B. P. A. Wijnberg* and Aede de Groot*

Laboratory of Organic Chemistry, Wageningen Agricultural University, Dreijenplein 8, 6703 HB Wageningen, The Netherlands

Received 5 January 1999

Contents

1.	Introduction	2116
2.	Intramolecular C-C Bond Formation	2118
	2.1 Intramolecular alkylation and aldol condensation	2118
	2.2 Carbonyl coupling	2122
	2.3 Intramolecular radical cyclization	2123
	2.4 Intramolecular cyclopropanation reaction	2124
	2.5 Ring contraction of larger rings	2124
3.	Ring Cleavage Reactions	2126
	3.1 The Grob-type fragmentation reactions	2126
	3.2 Photolytic cleavage	2130
	3.3 Radical-induced fragmentation	2131
	3.4 The photoaddition-thermolysis sequence	2133
4.	Ring Expansion Reactions	2135
	4.1 The Cope rearrangement	2135
	4.2 The oxy-Cope rearrangement	2137
5	References and Notes	2139

* E-mail: hans.wijnberg@bio.oc.wau.nl; aede.degroot@bio.oc.wau.nl

Fax: +31 317 484914

1.Introduction

Because of their unique structural and conformational features, their general occurrence in nature¹ and their central role in the biosynthesis of other sesquiterpenes,² germacrane sesquiterpenes have received much attention in modern organic chemistry.

The majority of known germacranes possesses the flexible (E,E)-cyclodeca-1(10),4-diene ring unit as the main structural characteristic, but (Z,E)-germacranes (melampolides), (E,Z)-germacranes (heliangolides) and (Z,Z)-germacranes are also frequently found in nature (Figure 1).

$$(E,E)\text{-germacranes} \qquad (Z,E)\text{-germacranes} \qquad (E,Z)\text{-germacranes} \qquad (Z,Z)\text{-germacranes} \qquad (Z,Z)\text{-germacranes}$$

Figure 1

The conformational behaviour of germacranes, in particular the (E,E)-germacranes, has been an area of study for decades.⁴ These studies have shown that the 10-membered ring of germacranes can adopt four distinct conformations which can be denoted as UU, UD, DU, and DD. U (up) and D (down) refer to the orientation of the C(14) and C(15) methyl groups. These conformers have either a crossed (UU and DD) or parallel relation of the double bonds (UD and DU) and are interconvertible by rotation of each of the double bonds through the ring⁵ and inversion of the C(7)–C(8) unit.⁶ As indicated in Scheme 1 for hedycaryol (1), the conformation of the C(7)–C(8) segment in the 10-membered ring is largely determined by the C(7) substituent which tends to occupy a pseudoequatorial position.

Scheme 1

In the conformations depicted in Scheme 1, the two endocyclic double bonds are approximately perpendicular to the plane of the 10-membered ring, leaving only the outer face of these double bonds available for reactions. For (E,E)-germacranes, this structural aspect also indicates that these compounds display planar chirality.⁷

Many (*E,E*)-germacranes show temperature-dependent NMR spectra indicative of conformational equilibria in solution. Hedycaryol (1), for instance, exists in three different conformations at room temperature. Because these conformations are interconverting at room temperature, transannular cyclization reactions of 1 only proceed via the most stable UU conformation. This type of stereoselectivity in conformationally controlled reactions can often be predicted if the most stable conformation of the compound involved is known. Correct predictions of most stable conformations can be produced by carrying out molecular mechanics calculations, often in combination with NMR and X-ray data. Most of the naturally occurring (*E,E*)-germacranolides investigated, exist in the UU conformation. In contrast, the DU and UD conformations seem to be typical for the melampolides and heliangolides. The occurrence of these different germacrane conformations plays an important role in the biosynthesis of other sesquiterpenes.

The synthesis of members of a class of terpenes can often be achieved starting from congeners that occur abundantly in nature. In general, this is not feasible for germacranes because only a few germacranes such as germacrone (2), germacrene D (3) and salonitenolide (4) are available in (multi)gram quantities (Figure 2).

Germacrone (2), a commercially available germacrane, can be isolated in large quantities by simple crystallization of the essential oil of *Geranium macrorrhizum* L. The chemistry of this compound has been studied extensively.¹³ A serious drawback in the synthetic application of 2 is the lack of a chiral center.

Being the likely precursor in the biosynthesis of periplanones, the widespread germacrene D (3) has been used as the starting material for the synthesis of periplanones in order to elucidate their structures.¹⁴

The germacranolide salonitenolide (4) occurs in notable quantities in distinct species of the *Centaurea* genus and has been used to prepare vernolepin-related compounds.¹⁵

Figure 2

The total synthesis of germacranes has been a long-standing problem mainly because of difficulties stemming from their thermal instability¹⁶ and the ease with which these compounds undergo transannular cyclizations.¹⁷ In spite of these problems, numerous reports

on germacrane synthesis have been published in the last fourty years. Some of these belong to the most impressive parts of synthetic organic chemistry.¹⁸

Here, we aim at a systematic presentation of these reports with particular emphasis on the construction of the ten-membered ring system. In the three subsequent sections the main synthetic approaches toward the 10-membered ring system of germacranes, i.e., intramolecular C-C bond formation, ring cleavage of the central bond in decalin systems and ring expansion reactions, are discussed.

2.Intramolecular C-C Bond Formation

Due to the presence of two double bonds, the ring strain in germacranes is markedly lowered compared to cyclodecanes. This fact makes the direct ring closure of appropriately functionalized acyclic precursors a useful method for the construction of the cyclodecadiene skeleton of germacranes. Intramolecular C–C bond formation can be accomplished by several types of ring closures including intramolecular alkylations and aldol condensations, carbonyl coupling reactions, radical cyclizations and cyclopropanation reactions. A special case of intramolecular C–C bond formation is the ring contraction of larger rings.

2.1 Intramolecular Alkylation and Aldol Condensation

One of the most cited methods in germacrane synthesis is the anion-induced intramolecular cyclization of farnesol derivatives, developed by Itô *et al.*¹⁹ The advantage of the Itô strategy is the easy access to the required acyclic precursor, yet cyclization efficiency is only fair, perhaps due to the transannular strain accompanying the formation of the 10-membered ring system. The cyclization step is based on a Biellmann reaction in which an epoxide ring is opened by an allylic anion stabilized by a phenylsulfide group (see Scheme 2). This method has been used for the preparation of all double bond stereoisomers of hedycaryol (1) (Figure 3). Acid-catalyzed cyclization reactions and thermal Cope rearrangements of these stereoisomers have provided more insight into the biosynthesis of eudesmane and elemane sesquiterpenes.²⁰

Figure 3

Winter et al.²¹ have utilized the Itô approach for the synthesis of (±)-helminthogermacrene (5) (Scheme 2). More recently, the method has been used again for the synthesis of a

germacranoid containing an allene function.²²

Scheme 2

In combination with a [2,3] sigmatropic rearrangement, Itô's method has been used for the synthesis of (\pm) -4-hydroxyallohedycaryol (6), a germacrane with a (E,E)-cyclodeca-1(10),5-diene system, and (\pm) -obscuronatin (7), a diterpene closely related to germacranes (Scheme 3).

$$\begin{array}{c} \text{BuLi} \\ \text{SPh} \\ \end{array}$$

Scheme 3

In 1983, Takahashi *et al.*²⁵ introduced a general method for the construction of (E,E)- and (E,Z)-cyclodecadienone systems. The approach was based on an anion-induced intramolecular alkylation of protected cyanohydrins.²⁶ The acyclic precursors are built up from geranyl derivatives and contain an allylic cyanohydrin, protected as its 1-ethoxyethyl ether (EEO) and, at the other end of the chain, a primary or secondary tosylate as leaving group. The alkylation step is generally effected with sodium or lithium hexamethyldisilazane (NaHMDS or LHMDS) at elevated temperature. After cyclization to the 10-membered ring system, the protected cyanohydrin function is converted to an enone moiety. Two examples of this approach, the synthesis of (\pm) -acoragermacrone $(8)^{27}$ and (\pm) -periplanone B (9),²⁸ are given in Scheme 4. Also, germacrone $(2)^{29}$ and two periplanone analogues³⁰ have been prepared utilizing this method.

Scheme 4

The same principle has been utilized for the enantiospecific syntheses of (-)-periplanone B $(9)^{31}$ and (-)-dihydrogermacrene D $(10)^{32}$ (Scheme 5). Both the key intermediates in these syntheses, an α -phenylthioacrylate and a substituted (phenylthio)acetonitrile, have been synthesized from (+)-menth-1-ene. Similarly, an ω -tosyloxy- α -phenylsulfenyl ketone, prepared from (-)-carvone, has been cyclized to a (Z)-cyclodecenone derivative, in good yield.³³ The attempt to convert this compound to optically active helminthogermacrene (5) was not successful.

Scheme 5

A biomimetic cation-olefin cyclization route has been used by Corey et al.³⁴ for the synthesis of α-humulene (11), a sesquiterpene possessing an 11-membered ring system (Scheme 6). Whether this cyclization method, applied on a proper precursor, can be used for the synthesis of germacrane sesquiterpenes, for example germacrene A (12), is still open to question. As Corey already stated in 1965: "The laboratory synthesis of these sesquiterpenes by such a biomimetic cyclization has not yet been realized, despite its apparent simplicity". ³⁵

Scheme 6

Owing to its structural uniqueness and cytotoxic properties, the complex germacrane (+)-eremantholide A (13) was the target for total synthesis by several groups.³⁶ A recent approach toward this compound from D-glucose uses an intramolecular vinylogous aldol reaction for the construction of the 10-membered ring present in 13 (Scheme 7).³⁷

Scheme 7

Marshall et al.³⁸ have developed an efficient cyclization of α -alkoxyallylstannane alkynales for the synthesis of 14-membered cembranoid precursors. This cyclization method, however, failed to produce a 10-membered ring system. The only pure product that could be obtained was a cyclododecynol derivative (Scheme 8).³⁹

Scheme 8

2.2 Carbonyl Coupling

Aldehydes and ketones can be converted to dimeric alkenes in high yield by treatment with titanium(III) chloride and a zinc-copper couple.⁴⁰ The mechanism consists of initial coupling of two radical species to give a 1,2-dioxygen compound (a titanium pinacolate), which is then deoxygenated. When applied to dicarbonyl compounds, the reaction has been used for the synthesis of cycloalkenes. (±)-Helminthogermacrene (5), for instance, was synthesized by this method in four steps starting from the commercially available geranylacetone (Scheme 9).⁴¹ (±)-Bicyclogermacrene (14), (±)-isobicyclogermacrene (15), (±)-isolepidozene (16) and (±)-lepidozene (17) have also been prepared by this titanium-induced dicarbonyl-coupling reaction.⁴² A similar cyclization reaction applied to a keto ester has been used for the synthesis of (±)-acoragermacrone (8).⁴³

Scheme 9

At low temperature, the titanium-induced dicarbonyl coupling reaction ends with the formation of a pinacol. This so-called intramolecular pinacol coupling reaction has been used for the synthesis of (-)-periplanone C (18) with (-)-menth-1-ene as the chiral starting material (Scheme 10). In a related approach, cyclization of ω -bromofarnesal with a low-valent chromium reagent has been used for the synthesis of (\pm)-costunolide (19).

Scheme 10

2.3 Intramolecular Radical Cyclization

Recently, two reports have been published on an intramolecular radical cyclization approach to germacrane sesquiterpenes. Parsons *et al.*⁴⁶ used the addition of an alkenyl radical to an acetylene to construct a periplanone-like ring system lacking the C(14) methyl group (Scheme 11). The efficiency of the cyclization step performed under high dilution conditions was low; reduction of the vinylbromide moiety was the preferred reaction pathway.

Scheme 11

Hodgson *et al.*⁴⁷ have demonstrated the utility of an intramolecular Stille cross-coupling reaction under palladium catalysis in the synthesis of a cyclodecadienone system lacking the C(7) isopropyl functionality normally present in germacranes (Scheme 12). Whether this concept is indeed an efficient medium-ring cyclization approach to germacranes, as the authors stated, is open to question.

Scheme 12

2.4 Intramolecular Cyclopropanation Reaction

In an attempt to synthesize bicyclogermacrene (14), Motherwell and Roberts⁴⁸ studied the intramolecular cyclopropanation reaction of an organozine carbenoid, generated by direct reduction of (E,E)-farnesal with zine amalgam and 1,2-bis(chlorodimethylsilyl)ethane (Scheme 13). The only cyclopropanoid product of this reaction, however, turned out to be (\pm) -sesquicarene (20) and not, as expected, bicyclogermacrene (14).⁴⁹

Scheme 13

2.5 Ring Contraction of Larger Rings

An elegant method for the construction of larger carbocycles has been developed independently by the groups of Takahashi⁵⁰ and Marshall.⁵¹ Macrocyclic diallyl or propargyl allyl ethers are subjected to [2,3] Wittig rearrangement to afford carbocyclic rings with substituents appropriate for further elaboration. The successful stereoselective synthesis of the germacranolides, (±)-costunolide (19) and (±)-haageanolide (21) by Takahashi *et al.*⁵² illustrates the usefulness of this methodology in germacrane synthesis (Scheme 14). The synthesis of 19 only differs from that of 21 in the construction of the macrocyclic ether.

Scheme 14

A closely related approach has been used for the synthesis of the bridged germacranolide (±)-aristolactone (22).⁵³ Because the C(6)-O bond and the isopropenyl group at C(7) in 22 are *trans*-related, this method requires Mitsunobu inversion of the hydroxyl group at C(6) after the [2,3] Wittig rearrangement (Scheme 15). This approach also offers the possibility of synthesizing 22 in optically active form, because the two propargylic methylene protons at C(6) in the 13-membered ether derivative are enantiotopic.⁵⁴ Using a chiral lithium amide as base instead of butyllithium, the [2,3] Wittig rearrangement afforded the 10-membered propargylic alcohol in 60-80% ee and 70% yield. Further transformation of this alcohol resulted in the enantioselective synthesis of (+)-22.

Scheme 15

The first enantioselective total synthesis of (+)-eremantholide A (13) was accomplished utilizing a Ramberg-Bäcklund rearrangement, a reaction seldom employed in the synthesis of medium-sized rings (Scheme 16).⁵⁵

Scheme 16

Although not aiming at the synthesis of a particular germacrane, Yamamoto *et al.*⁵⁶ found that under the influence of an aluminum reagent of sufficient steric bulk, ring contraction of an (E,Z)-humulene derivative took place to afford (\pm) -helminthogermacrene (5) in high yield (Scheme 17). Two years after this publication, 5 was isolated for the first time from a natural source.²¹ Ring contraction of the (E,E)-isomer gave (\pm) -germacrene A (12), but in this case the yield was very poor.

Scheme 17

3. Ring Cleavage Reactions

The fragmentation of the central bond in decalin systems has been shown to be a very effective method for the synthesis of germacranes. The decalin precursors are readily available and their stereochemistry can be controlled. The most prominent processes used for the cleavage of the central bond are the Grob-type fragmentation reactions, photolytical cleavage, radical-induced fragmentation and the photoaddition-thermolysis sequence.

3.1 The Grob-type Fragmentation Reactions

The methods with probably the greatest overall synthetic utility for the construction of medium-sized ring systems, especially 10-membered ring systems, are the Grob-type fragmentation reactions. Three closely related Grob-type fragmentation reactions can be distinguished. Firstly, there is the base-induced Wharton reaction⁵⁷ in which cyclic 1,3-diol monosulfonate esters undergo olefin-forming fragmentation with the release of an electrofugal carbonyl fragment (eq. 1). In this instance, the base does not play its usual role in elimination reactions but instead serves to abstract a proton from the hydroxyl group, which enables the sulfonate ester group to be removed more easily, since O is a powerful electron donor.

$$HO \stackrel{2}{1} \stackrel{2}{3} OSO_2R \stackrel{base}{\longleftarrow} \stackrel{-}{O} \stackrel{-}{O} OSO_2R \stackrel{-}{\longrightarrow} O=C + C=C + -OSO_2R$$
 (eq. 1)

The investigations of Wharton $et\ al.^{58}$ on functionalized decalin systems have clearly shown that the stereochemical features of the compound involved are important for the occurrence of the fragmentation process and that the new carbon-carbon double bond is formed stereospecifically. In the case where the bonds undergoing cleavage (C(1)-C(2) and C(3)-OSO₂R in eq. 1) have an antiperiplanar relationship, the fragmentation process is very fast (concerted) and proceeds in high yield. If a gauche relationship exists between these bonds, the compounds react very slowly and usually complex product mixtures are formed.

Scheme 18

The synthesis of (*Z,E*)-3,6-dimethylcyclodeca-2,6-dienone is a typical example of the Wharton reaction (Scheme 18).^{56d} This compound has been used for the synthesis of a simple periplanone B analoque with high biological activity,⁵⁹ and very recently, as the starting material for the synthesis of model systems for melampolides.⁶⁰ The Wharton reaction has also been applied to bicyclic systems derived from natural eudesmanolides to obtain germacranolides for biosynthetic studies.⁶¹ Similarly, the naturally occurring sesquiterpene isocalamendiol has been converted to isoacoragermacrone (23) in good yield (Scheme 19).⁶²

Scheme 19

De Clercq $et\ al.^{63}$ have developed an elegant route to a known intermediate for the synthesis of (\pm) -periplanone B (9). Key steps in this approach are an intramolecular Diels-Alder reaction of a furan-allene derivative, a radical anion-promoted cleavage of the oxygen-bridge and an *in situ* low-temperature Wharton fragmentation reaction (Scheme 20).

Scheme 20

Another Grob-type fragmentation reaction is the so-called boronate fragmentation reaction introduced and extensively studied by Marshall *et al.*⁶⁴ In contrast to the Wharton reaction in which only one endocyclic double bond is formed regio- and stereospecifically, the boronate fragmentation reaction results in the regio- and stereospecific formation of two endocyclic double bonds. The necessity of the antiperiplanar alignment of the breaking bonds also exists in the boronate fragmentation reaction. The usually moderate regio- and stereoselectivity of the borane addition to tetrasubstituted double bonds and the fact that several functional groups are not compatible with the use of borane, limit the application of the boronate fragmentation in germacrane synthesis.

The boronate fragmentation reaction has been used for the synthesis of some (Z,E)-benzocyclodecadiene systems⁶⁵ and recently, for the synthesis of simple germacrane models in a study of enzymatic biotransformations.⁶⁶ An investigation has been made into the applicability of the boronate fragmentation reaction to germacranolide systems.⁶⁷ The first (E,E)-germacrane that was synthesized by the Marshall approach is (\pm) -hedycaryol (1).⁶⁸ Recently, the enantioselective synthesis of (+)-1 has been accomplished starting from (-)-guaiol (Scheme 21).⁶⁹ The enantiomer of natural (+)-allohedycaryol (24)⁷⁰ and (\pm) -neohedycaryol (25),⁷¹ a possible precursor in the biosynthesis of *epi*-eudesmanes, have also been prepared by this methodology.

Scheme 21

The third Grob-type fragmentation reaction, developed by Mander *et al.*,⁷² involves an enolate-assisted, intraannular 1,4-fragmentation via α -deprotonation of an carbonyl function and has been used to prepare functionalized cyclodecadiene systems.⁷³ The synthesis of (\pm) -sericenine (26) is the first example of this approach in germacrane synthesis (Scheme 22).⁷⁴ Isomerization of the C(4)-C(5) E double bond in the initially formed neosericenine⁷⁵ under the influence of potassium bis(trimethylsilyl)amide (KHMDS), used as the base for the 1,4-fragmentation reaction, explains the formation of 26 as the sole product in this reaction.

Scheme 22

A recent study on the enolate-assisted fragmentation reaction has demonstrated that the isomerization of the C(4)-C(5) E double bond can be prevented by the use of one equivalent of sodium tert-amylate (NaOt-amyl) instead of KHMDS. 76 This new finding has strongly enhanced the synthetic value of the approach and has been applied to the synthesis of (E,E)germacranes in which the methyl group at C(4) is oxidized. The synthesis of 15hydroxygermacrene B (27), outlined in Scheme 23, illustrated the usefulness of this adjusted enolate-assisted fragmentation reaction. Because of the instability of the initially formed germacrane aldehyde, in situ reduction with Red-Al directly follows the fragmention step. Conversion of 27 to the known germacrene B (28), a widespread naturally occurring hydrocarbon, confirmed the E geometry of the C(4)-C(5) double bond in 27. With sodium tert-amylate as base, the fragmentation reaction can also be used for the synthesis of (E,E)germacranes with sp^3 hybridization at C(7). As the presence of a hydroxylated methyl group at C(4) in compounds like 27 allows the regioselective Sharpless epoxidation of the C(4)-C(5) double bond, this enolate-assisted fragmentation reaction gives easy access to germacrane 4,5-epoxides and facilitates investigations on the biomimetic formation of guaiane sesquiterpenes.77

Scheme 23

3.2 Photolytic Cleavage

In 1963, Corey and Hortmann reported for the first time the synthesis of a germacrane sesquiterpene.⁷⁸ They found that irradiation of a bicyclic conjugated diene, readily available from α-santonin, led to an equilibrium mixture of the diene itself together with its monocyclic cyclodecatriene isomer. After hydrogenation of this photolysis mixture, (+)-dihydrocostunolide (29) could be obtained in poor yield (Scheme 24).

$$\alpha$$
-santonin $\frac{hv}{1:1}$ $\frac{h$

Scheme 24

In order to improve the usefulness of this approach to germacrane synthesis, methods have been developed to affect the photostationary equilibrium. A direct way to upset this equilibrium has been applied in another synthesis of 29 (Scheme 25). Irradiation of the bicyclic dienol, also derived from α -santonin, gave an intermediate cyclodecatrienol which spontaneously underwent ketonization, thereby blocking the equilibrium. The resulting cyclodecadienone, obtained as a mixture of two epimers, was used for further transformation into 29. It is noteworthy that the introduction of the C(4)–C(5) E double bond in 29 required the use of tetrabutylammonium oxalate. Any other base refused to give 29. Some of the 10-membered ring intermediates in this route toward 29 have served as starting materials in a study on epoxidations of germacranolide-type sesquiterpenes.

Scheme 25

An indirect way to upset the photostationary equilibrium has been used for the synthesis of dihydronovanin (30) (Scheme 26).⁸² Irradiation of the cross-conjugated bicyclic dienol acetate resulted in the formation of an intermediate cyclodecatrienol acetate. *In situ* saponification of the acetate group at low temperature afforded the corresponding dienone, which could easily be transformed to 30. Without saponification, irradiation only produced a 2.5:1 mixture of the starting material and its *cis*-fused isomer, respectively.

Scheme 26

Recently, this methodology has been used for the construction of germacranolides containing ether bridges (Scheme 27).⁸³ Irradiation of a dienol acetate, readily available from the naturally occurring eudesmanolide vulgarin, and *in situ* treatment of the photolysis adduct with potassium hydroxide provided a functionalized cyclodecanenone derivative in reasonable yield. Further transformation of this compound resulted in the formation of germacranolides with an ether bridge between C(1) and C(5) or C(3) and C(10).

Scheme 27

3.3 Radical-Induced Fragmentation

Several synthetically useful ring fragmentations have been developed that rely on the β-scission of bridgehead alkoxy radicals. In 1964, Akhtar and Marsh introduced a radical-induced fragmentation reaction as an entry into seco-AB steroids. In later studies, the potential of such methodology for cyclodecan(en)one synthesis has been examined. Based on the original method of Akhtar and Marsh, Suginome *et al.* developed a general method for the synthesis of medium-sized cycloalkan(en)ones involving the selective β-scission of alkoxy radicals generated by photolysis of hypoiodites. In this approach, the hypoiodites were prepared *in situ* by treatment of the corresponding bridgehead alcohols with mercury(II) oxide and iodine (Scheme 28).

$$\begin{array}{c|c} & & & \\ & & &$$

Scheme 28

The formation of a germacranedione in 49% yield from a bridgehead alcohol derived from α -santonin is the only known example of this approach in germacrane synthesis (Scheme 29).⁸⁷ Owing to its structural features, this dione promises to be a versatile intermediate in the synthesis of naturally occurring polyoxygenated germacranolides.

Scheme 29

The radical-induced ring expansion of cis- and trans- α -substituted- β -stannylcyclohexanones provides another efficient route to Z- and E-cyclodecenones (Scheme 30). The cis-/trans-relationship in the precursor controls the alkene geometry of the ring-expanded product which is consistent with a concerted fragmentation process. A comparable radical chain process has been used for the construction of cyclodecanones containing an ester function. By

Scheme 30

Thiocarbonylimidazolides derived from simple Robinson annulation products containing a suitably placed ester or keto group can also be converted to functionalized 10-membered ring systems (Scheme 31).⁹⁰ In this case, the key step is a radical-induced opening of an epoxide ring followed by β -scission of the resulting alkoxy radical.

Scheme 31

As can be concluded from the examples shown, the use of radical-induced ring expansion reactions for the synthesis of naturally occurring sesquiterpenes with a medium-sized ring skeleton is limited. Only recently, the total synthesis of two fused 4,9-membered ring sesquiterpenes, caryophyllene (31) and isocaryophyllene (32), has been reported (Figure 4). Except for the synthesis of the germacranolide-like compound depicted in Scheme 29, no other applications in germacrane synthesis are known.

Figure 4

3.4 The Photoaddition-Thermolysis Sequence

The photoaddition-thermolysis sequence developed by the groups of Lange⁹¹ and Wender⁹² constitutes another well-known approach to 10-membered ring systems. The sequence involves [2+2] photoaddition of a 2-cyclohexenone derivative to a substituted cyclobutene to give a strained tricyclo[4.4.0.0^{2,5}]decane which upon thermolysis produces a 1,5-cyclodecadiene system via a [2+2] cycloreversion reaction. The short enantioselective synthesis of the isoaristolactone isomer (+)-33 clearly illustrates the utility of this approach in germacrane synthesis (Scheme 32).⁹³ Several related germacranolides have been similarly synthesized.⁹⁴ At higher temperatures and/or prolonged reaction times, the cycloreversion reaction occurred along with transannular cyclization to afford *trans*-fused decalin systems which were used for the synthesis of cadinanes⁹⁵ and eudesmanes.⁹⁶

$$\begin{array}{c|c} & & & \\ \hline \\ \text{COOH} & & \\ \hline \\ \text{(+)-isopiperitenone} \end{array}$$

Scheme 32

The cycloreversion reaction applied to the photoadduct of 1-methylcyclobutene and (-)-piperitone resulted in the formation of (R)-(+)-isoacoragermacrone (23) as a minor product, together with several elemanes (Scheme 33).

$$\frac{hv}{H} = \frac{hv}{H} + \text{ elemanes, 29}\%$$
(-)-piperitone (*B*)-(+)-isoacoragermacrone (**23**), 19%

Scheme 33

Because most of the (E,E)-germacranes readily undergo Cope rearrangement at elevated temperature, the photoaddition-thermolysis sequence is a less suitable method for the synthesis of these compounds. (\pm)-Isabelin (34), a naturally occurring germacranolide containing two lactone rings, is the only known example of an (E,E)-germacrane produced in a cycloreversion reaction (Scheme 34). In this specific case, the reaction outcome is controlled by the presence of an additional C(7),C(8) lactone ring.

Scheme 34

In an effort to extend the photoaddition-thermolysis sequence to a more general method for the synthesis of (E,E)-cyclodecadienes, the photoaddition reaction was followed by nucleophilic ring opening (Scheme 35). It was expected that a Grob-type fragmentation reaction of the ring-opened product would result in the formation of an (E,E)-cyclodecadiene ring system. However, in contrast to the expectations, the (Z,E)-isomer was obtained as the sole product.

Scheme 35

4. Ring Expansion Reactions

4.1 The Cope Rearrangement

A very important reaction for the synthesis of germacrane sesquiterpenes is the [3,3] sigmatropic Cope rearrangement in which 1,2-divinylcyclohexanes are thermally converted into cyclodecadienes. In fact, nature itself demonstrated the idea: the well-known equilibrium between germacrane and elemane sesquiterpenes. Generally, the position of the equilibrium is determined by the substitution pattern, conjugation effects, ring strain, conformation and other factors. In the existence of this equilibrium forms one of the major difficulties in the isolation of pure germacranes from natural sources. The use of conventional purification techniques (GC, distillation), for instance, completely converts most of the simple (E,E)-germacranes to the corresponding trans-elemane isomers. In some cases, these difficulties can be circumvented by silver nitrate extraction, argentation chromatography or even crystallization of the silver nitrate adduct.

Due to the reversible nature of the conventional Cope rearrangement, 105 efforts to synthesize germacrane sesquiterpenes from 1,2-divinylcyclohexane precursors have met with only limited success. Grieco and Nishizawa 106 employed the Cope rearrangement for the first total synthesis of (+)-costunolide (19) (Scheme 36). Upon thermolysis of (+)-dehydrosaussurea lactone, prepared from (-)- α -santonin, they obtained a 2:1 equilibrium mixture from which 19 could be isolated in modest yield.

Scheme 36

Although the Cope equilibrium usually lies toward the elemane isomer, a few exceptions to this general behaviour are known (Scheme 37). Upon thermolysis, epi-isolinderalactone, an unnatural cis-elemane, showed complete conversion to (\pm) -neolinderalactone (35). A silica gel-induced Cope rearrangement gave (\pm) -isobicyclogermacrenal (36) in high yield.

Scheme 37

The formation of preisocalamendiol (37) together with two cadinane-like products upon thermolysis of shyobunone, a naturally occurring elemane, can be considered as the first example of a thermal Cope rearrangement in which a consecutive reaction shifts the unfavorable Cope equilibrium toward the germacrane side (Scheme 38).^{60,108} Although the initially formed acoragermacrone (8) is thermally less stable than its Cope precursor shyobunone,¹⁰⁹ it can undergo rearrangement via a [1,5] hydrogen shift to afford the more stable preisocalamendiol (37), thereby irreversibly removing the germacrane isomer from the Cope equilibrium. A thermal transannular Ene reaction of 37 explains the formation of the cadinane-like products in this process. A longer reaction time in combination with a higher reaction temperature leads to the formation of the cadinanes only.

Scheme 38

The Cope rearrangement in conjunction with other reactions is now considered as a method of particular value in the synthesis of natural products.¹¹⁰ A very elegant example of such a consecutive reaction is the Cope-Claisen rearrangement. As the last step in this tandem process is the irreversible Claisen rearrangement, any unfavourable Cope equilibrium should be transposed to the tandem products.¹¹¹ This strategy has been applied successfully in the synthesis of (+)-dihydrocostunolide (29) (Scheme 39).¹¹² The C(1),C(10) epoxide of 29, used as an precursor for the biomimetic synthesis of eudesmane sesquiterpenes, has been prepared similarly.¹¹³

Scheme 39

4.2 The Oxy-Cope Rearrangement

The irreversible rearrangement of 1,2-divinylcycloalkane derivatives with a hydroxyl group at C(1) or C(2) is referred to as the oxy-Cope rearrangement. The oxy-Cope rearrangement when carried out by heating the substrate in a high boiling solvent is often accompanied by other competing reactions and is not very useful for the synthesis of the thermally labile germacranes. The application of a thermal oxy-Cope rearrangement in a synthetic study on oxygen-bridged furanoheliangolides must be considered as an exception. 115

After the discovery that the use of sodium and, in particular, potassium salts of the oxy-Cope precursors allows the rearrangement to proceed in high yield under mild conditions, the practical value of the oxy-Cope rearrangement for the synthesis of functionalized 10-membered ring systems has been improved significantly. The first successful application of this so-called anionic oxy-Cope rearrangement in germacrane synthesis was reported by Still in 1977. From isopiperitenone, (±)-isoacoragermacrone (38) could be synthesized by a very elegant and short method (Scheme 40). Isomerization of 38 to (±)-acoragermacrone (8) could be achieved via an organotin addition/oxidation sequence.

Scheme 40

The same strategy has been employed for the first synthesis of (\pm) -periplanone B (9). Based on an ingenious stereocontrol, 9 and two of its stereoisomers could be synthesized, thereby showing the correct relative stereochemistry of 9 (Scheme 41).

Scheme 41

Except for the preparation of the oxy-Cope precursor, Hauptmann et al. 120 followed the same route for their synthesis of 9. Some years later, Mori's group reported the enantioselective synthesis of the naturally occurring (-)-enantiomer of 9 also utilizing the anionic oxy-Cope rearrangement as the key step. 121 This synthesis laid the foundation for a thorough study on periplanones and their analogues by several Japanese research groups. 122 The same methodology has been used for the synthesis of the enantiomer of the antitumor principle of the Chinese herb Curcuma aromatica. 123 Oxy-Cope precursors prepared from (-)-carvone have been used for the enantioselective synthesis of heliangolide-like compounds 124 and a naturally occurring heliangolide. 125

The broad scope of the anionic oxy-Cope rearrangement was further demonstrated by the

enantioselective synthesis of (-)-eucannabinolide (39), a structurally complex heliangolide with a strong inhibitory activity in vivo against Ehrlich ascites carcinoma (Scheme 42).¹²⁶

Scheme 42

An ingenious route, aiming at the construction of the butadiene unit present in germacrene D (3) and periplanones, has been described by Schreiber and Santini¹²⁷ and involves a consecutive anionic oxy-Cope rearrangement/cyclobutene ring opening sequence. This method has been used for an efficient synthesis of (\pm) -periplanone B (9),¹²⁸ and also for a short synthesis of (\pm) -germacrene D (3) (Scheme 43).¹²⁹

OH
$$\frac{KH}{75\%}$$

$$\frac{hv}{82\%}$$

$$(\pm)\text{-germacrene D (3)}$$

Scheme 43

5. References and Notes

- Connolly JD, Hill RA. Dictionary of Terpenoids; Vol. 1, Mono- and Sesquiterpenoids. London: Chapman & Hall, 1991:214-285.
- 2. For an extensive review, see: Herz W. Israel J. Chem. 1977;16:32-44.

- The conventions proposed for describing germacrane sesquiterpenes are followed, see: Rogers D, Moss GP, Neidle S. J. Chem.
 Soc., Chem. Comm. 1972:142-143. The suffix "olide", as in "germacranolide" is used to indicate the presence of a lactone group.
- 4. For some representative examples, see: (a) Sutherland JK. Tetrahedron 1974;30:1651-1660. (b) Takeda K. Tetrahedron 1974;30:1525-1534. (c) Watson WH, Kashyap RP. J. Org. Chem. 1986;51:2521-2524.
- 5. During the rotation of a double bond, the vinylic hydrogen passes through the center of the ring (jump-rope rotation), see: Marshall JA, Audia VH, Jenson TM, Guida WC. Tetrahedron 1986;42:1703-1709.
- 6. Wharton PS, Poon Y-C, Kluender HC. J. Org. Chem. 1973;38:735-740.
- 7. Eliel EL, Wilen SH, Mander LN. Stereochemistry of Organic Compounds. New York: Wiley Interscience, 1994:1166-1176.
- 8. Unpublished results from this laboratory. See also reference 6.
- 9. Piet DP, Minnaard AJ, van der Heyden KA, Franssen MCR, Wijnberg JBPA, de Groot A. Tetrahedron 1995;51:243-254.
- 10. Still WC, Galynker I. Tetrahedron 1981;37:3981-3996.
- 11. For example, see: (a) Fransen HR, Dormans GJM, Buck HM. Tetrahedron 1983;39:2981-2987. (b) Ugliengo P, Appendino G, Chiari G, Viterbo D. J. Mol. Struct. 1990;222:437-452.
- 12. Fischer NH. Sesquiterpene Lactones: Biogenesis and Biomimetic Transformations. In: Towers GHN, Stafford HA, editors.

 Recent Advances in Phytochemistry, Vol. 24: Biochemistry of the Mevalonic Acid Pathway to Terpenoids. New York:

 Plenum Press, 1990:161–201 and references cited therein.
- 13. For example, see: (a) Tsankova E, Enev V. Tetrahedron 1987;43:4425-4432. (b) Enev V, Tsankova E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988;29:1829-1832.
- (a) Shizuri Y, Yamaguchi S, Terada Y, Yamamura S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987;28:1791-1794. (b) Shizuri Y, Yamaguchi S, Yamamura S, Ishihara M, Ohba S, Saito Y, Niwa M, Terada Y, Miyazaki M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987;28:3831-3834. (c) Shizuri Y, Matsunaga K, Tamaki K, Yamaguchi S, Yamamura S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988;29:1971-1974. (d) Shizuri Y, Matsunaga K, Yamamura S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989;30:3693-3696.
- 15. Barrero AF, Oltra JE, Barragán A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995;36:311-314.
- 16. Germacranes readily undergo Cope rearrangement to elemanes, see subsection 4.1 of this review.
- 17. For some representative examples, see: (a) Brown ED, Sam TW, Sutherland JK, Torre A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1975: 2326-2332. (b) Niwa M, Iguchi M, Yamamura S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1976;49:3148-3154. (c) González AG, Galindo A, Mansilla H. Heterocycles 1989;28:529-545. (d) Piet DP, Minnaard AJ, van der Heyden KA, Franssen MCR, Wijnberg JBPA, de Groot A. Tetrahedron 1995;51:243-254.
- 18. Nicolaou KC, Sorensen EJ. Classics in Total Synthesis. Weinheim: VCH, 1996:211-220 and 333-341.
- 19. (a) Kodama M, Matsuki Y, Itô S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1976:1121-1124. (b) Kodama M, Yokoo S, Yamada H, Itô S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1978:3121-3124.
- 20. Kodama M, Yokoo S, Matsuki Y, Itô S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1979:1687-1690.
- 21. Winter REK.; Dorn F, Arigoni D. J. Org. Chem. 1980;45:4786-4789.
- 22. Winter REK, Shiang WR, Kolodziej SA, Rath NP. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992;33:2941-2944.
- 23. Kodama M, Shimada K, Takahashi T, Kabuto C, Itô S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981;22:4271-4274.
- 24. Kodama M, Okumura K, Kobayashi Y, Tsunoda T, Itô S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984;25: 5781-5784.
- 25. Takahashi T, Nemoto H, Tsuji J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983;24:2005-2008.
- 26. Takahashi T, Nagashima T, Tsuji J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981;22:1359-1362.

- 27. Takahashi T, Nemoto H, Tsuji J, Miura I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983;24:3485-3488.
- 28. Takahashi T, Kanda Y, Nemoto H, Kitamura K, Tsuji J, Fukazawa Y. J. Org. Chem. 1986;51:3393-3394.
- 29. Takahashi T, Kitamura K, Nemoto H, Tsuji J, Miura I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983;24:3489-3492.
- 30. Harada T. Takahashi T. Takahashi S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992;33:369-372.
- 31. (a) Kitahara T, Mori M, Koseki K, Mori K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986;27:1343-1346. (b) Kitahara T, Mori M, Mori, K. Tetrahedron 1987;43:2689-2699.
- 32. Kitahara T, Mori K. J. Org. Chem. 1984;49:3281-3285.
- 33. Caine D, Stanhope B. Tetrahedron 1992;48:33-44.
- 34. Corey EJ, Daigneault S, Dixon BR. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993;34:3675-3678.
- 35. Corey EJ, Hortmann AG. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965;87:5736-5742.
- 36. For a first attempt, see: McDougal PG, Oh Y-I, VanDerveer D. J. Org. Chem. 1989;54: 91-97.
- 37. (a) Takao K, Ochiai H, Hashizuka T, Koshimura H, Tadano K, Ogawa S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995;36:1487-1490. (b) Takao K, Ochiai H, Yoshida K, Hashizuka T, Koshimura H, Tadano K, Ogawa S. J. Org. Chem. 1995;60:8179-8193.
- 38. Marshall JA, Crooks SL, DeHoff BS. J. Org. Chem. 1988;53:1616-1623.
- 39. Marshall JA, Gung WY. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989;30:309-312.
- 40. For a review of the titanium-induced dicarbonyl-coupling reactions, see: McMurry JE. Acc. Chem. Res. 1983;16:405-411.
- 41. McMurry JE, Kocovsky P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985;26:2171-2172.
- 42. (a) McMurry JE, Bosch GK. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985;26:2167-2170. (b) McMurry JE, Bosch GK. J. Org. Chem. 1987;52:4885-4893. Recently, isolepidozene has been identified as a natural product, see: (c) Hardt IH, Rieck A, König WA, Muhle H. Phytochemistry 1995;40:605-606.
- 43. Li W, Li Y, Li Y. Synthesis 1994:267-269.
- 44. McMurry JE, Siemers NO. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994;35:4505-4508.
- 45. Shibuya H, Ohashi K, Kawashima K, Hori K, Murakami N, Kitagawa I. Chem. Lett. 1986:85-86.
- 46. Jonas D, Özlü Y, Parsons PJ. Synlett 1995:255-256.
- 47. Hodgson DM, Boulton LT, Maw GN. Synlett 1995:267-268.
- 48. Motherwell WB, Roberts LR. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995;36:1121-1124.
- 49. The intramolecular cyclopropanation reaction of carbenoids derived from farnesol invariably produces the bicyclo[4.1.0]heptane ring system, see: Gant TG, Noe MC, Corey EJ. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995;36:8745–8748 and references cited therein.
- 50. Takahashi T, Nemoto H, Kanda Y, Tsuji J, Fujise Y. J. Org. Chem. 1986;51:4315-4316.
- 51. Marshall JA, Jenson TM, DeHoff BS. J. Org. Chem. 1986;51:4316-4319.
- 52. (a) Takahashi T, Nemoto H, Kanda Y, Tsuji J. Heterocycles 1987;25:139-144. (b) Takahashi T, Nemoto H, Kanda Y, Tsuji J, Fukazawa Y, Okajima T, Fujise Y. Tetrahedron 1987;43:5499-5520.
- (a) Marshall JA, Lebreton J, DeHoff BS, Jenson TM. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987;28:723-726.
 (b) Marshall JA, Lebreton J, DeHoff BS, Jenson TM. J. Org. Chem. 1987;52:3883-3889.
- 54. (a) Marshall JA, Lebreton J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987;28:3323-3326. (b) Marshall JA, Lebreton J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988;110:2925-2931.
- (a) Boeckman Jr. RK, Heckendorn DK, Chinn RL. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987;28:3551-3554.
 (b) Boeckman Jr. RK, Yoon SK, Heckendorn DK, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991;113:9682-9684.
- 56. Itoh A, Nozaki H, Yamamoto H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1978:2903-2906.

- 57. For an extensive review of the Wharton reaction, see: Caine D. Org. Prep. Proced. Int. 1988;20:1-51.
- (a) Wharton PS. J. Org. Chem. 1961;26:4781–4782.
 (b) Wharton PS, Hiegel GA, Coombs RV. J. Org. Chem. 1963;28:3217–3219.
 (c) Wharton PS, Hiegel GA. J. Org. Chem. 1965;30:3254–3257.
 (d) Wharton PS, Baird MD. J. Org. Chem. 1971;36:2932–2937.
- 59. Mori M, Okada K, Shimazaki K, Chuman T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990;31:4037-4040.
- 60. Piet DP, Willemen HM, de Bruin TJM, Franssen MCR, Wijnberg JBPA, de Groot A. Tetrahedron 1997;53:11425-11436.
- 61. (a) González AG, Galindo A, Mansilla H, Gutiérrez A, Palenzuela JA. J. Org. Chem. 1985;50:5856–5858. (b) González AG, Galindo A, Palenzuela JA, Mansilla H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986;27:2771–2774.
- 62. Iguchi M, Nishiyama A, Yamamura S, Hirata Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1969:4295-4298.
- 63. (a) Cauwberghs S, De Clercq PJ. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988;29:6501–6504. (b) De Geyter T, Cauwberghs S, De Clercq PJ. Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg. 1994;103:433–443.
- (a) Marshall JA, Bundy GL. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966;88:4291–4292. (b) Marshall JA, Bundy GL. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1967:854–855. (c) Marshall JA, Huffman WF. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970;92:6358–6359. (d) Marshall JA, Ruth JA. J. Org. Chem. 1974;39:1971–1973. (e) Marshall JA, Huffman WF, Ruth JA. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972;94:4691–4696. For reviews, see: (f) Marshall JA. Synthesis 1971:229–235. (g) Marshall JA. Synthesis 1972:517–525.
- 65. Takeda K, Horibe I, Minato H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1973:2212-2220.
- (a) Piet DP, Franssen MCR, de Groot, A. Tetrahedron 1994;50:3169-3176.
 (b) Piet DP, Franssen MCR, de Groot A. Tetrahedron 1996;52:11273-11280.
- 67. Sabol JS. Studies on the Applicability of Boronate Fragmentations to Germacranolide Systems. Northwestern University, 1981.
- 68. Wharton PS, Sundin CE, Johnson DW, Kluender HC. J. Org. Chem. 1972;37:34-38.
- 69. Minnaard AJ, Wijnberg JBPA, de Groot A. Tetrahedron 1994;50:4755-4764.
- 70. Zhabinskii VN, Minnaard AJ, Wijnberg JBPA, de Groot A. J. Org. Chem. 1996;61:4022-4027.
- 71. Minnaard AJ, Stork GA, Wijnberg JBPA, de Groot A. J. Org. Chem. 1997;62:2344-2349.
- 72. Brown JM, Cresp TM, Mander LN. J. Org. Chem. 1977;42:3984-3986.
- 73. A similar methodology has also been used to construct 11-membered ring systems, see: Clark DA, Fuchs PL. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979;101:3567–3576.
- 74. Honan MC, Balasuryia A, Cresp TM. J. Org. Chem. 1985;50:4326-4329.
- 75. Neosericenine is also a known natural product, see: Takeda K, Horibe I, Minato H. J. Chem. Soc. C 1970:1547-1549.
- 76. Minnaard AJ, Wijnberg JBPA, de Groot A. J. Org. Chem. 1997;62:7336-7345.
- 77. Minnaard AJ, Wijnberg JBPA, de Groot A. J. Org. Chem. 1997;62:7346-7350.
- 78. Corey EJ, Hortmann AG. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1963;85:4033-4034.
- 79. (a) Fujimoto Y, Shimizu T, Tatsuno T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1976:2041–2044. (b) Fujimoto Y, Shimizu T, Ohmori M, Tatsuno T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1979;27:923–933.
- 80. Corey EJ, Terashima S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1972:111-113.
- 81. Shimizu T, Fujimoto Y, Tatsuno T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1979;27:934-945.
- 82. Watanabe M, Yoshikoshi A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1972:698.
- 83. Hernández AS, Afonso MM, González AG, Galindo A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992;33:4747-4750.
- 84. (a) Akhtar M, Marsh S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1964: 2475-2478. (b) Akhtar M, Marsh S. J. Chem. Soc. C 1966:937-942.

- (a) Macdonald TL, O'Dell DE. J. Org. Chem. 1981;46:1501–1503.
 (b) Beckwith ALJ, Kazlauskas R, Syner-Lyons MR. J. Org. Chem. 1983;48:4718–4722.
- 86. Suginome H, Kondoh T, Gogonea C, Singh V, Goto H, Osawa E. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995:69-81.
- 87. Harapanhalli RS. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1988:1009-1011.
- 88. (a) Baldwin JE, Adlington RM, Robertson J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1988:1404-1406. (b) Baldwin JE, Adlington RM, Robertson J. Tetrahedron 1989:45:909-922.
- 89. Dowd P, Choi S-C. Tetrahedron 1989;45:77-90.
- 90. (a) Corser DA, Marples BA.; Dart RK. Synlett 1992:987-989. (b) Rawal VH, Zhong HM. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993:34:5197-5200.
- 91. Lange GL, Huggins M-A, Neidert E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1976:4409-4412.
- 92. Wender PA, Lechleiter JC. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977;99:267-268.
- 93. Lange GL, So S, Lautens M, Lohr K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981;22:311-312.
- (a) Lange GL, McCarthy FC. Tetrahedron Lett. 1978:4749–4750. (b) Wilson SR, Phillips LR, Pelister Y, Huffman JC. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979;101:7373–7379. (c) Williams JR, Callahan JF. J. Org. Chem. 1980;45:4479–4483. (d) Lange GL, Otulakowski JA. J. Org. Chem. 1982;47:5093–5096. (e) Lange GL, Lee M. Synthesis 1985:117–120. (f) Lange GL, Lee M. J. Org. Chem. 1987;52:325–331.
- (a) Williams JR, Callahan JF. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1979:405–406.
 (b) Wender PA, Hubbs JC. J. Org. Chem. 1980;45:365–367.
 (c) See also references 95a, 95c and 95f.
- 96. Wender PA, Letendre LJ. J. Org. Chem. 1980;45:367-368.
- 97. Williams JR, Callahan JF. J. Org. Chem. 1980;45:4475-4478.
- (a) Yoshioka H, Mabry TJ, Higo A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970;92:923–927.
 (b) Wender PA, Lechleiter JC. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980;102:6340–6341.
- 99. Wender PA, Manly CJ. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990;112:8579-8581.
- 100. For a review of the Cope rearrangement, see: Rhoads SJ, Raulins.NR. Org. React. (N.Y.) 1975;22:1-252.
- 101. For a comprehensive discussion of these effects, see: Hill RK. In: Trost BM, Fleming I, Paquette LA, editors. Comprehensive Organic Synthesis. Vol. 5. New York: Pergamon Press, 1991:785.
- For example, see: (a) Jones RVH, Sutherland MD. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1968:1229–1230. (b) Weinheimer AJ,
 Youngblood WW, Washecheck PH, Karns TKB, Ciereszko LS. Tetrahedron Lett. 1970:497–500.
- 103. Southwell IA. Phytochemistry 1970;9:2243-2245.
- 104. For a review, see: van Beek TA, Subrtova D. Phytochem. Anal. 1995;6:1-19.
- 105. (a) Fischer NH, Mabry TJ. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1967;1235-1236. (b) Jain TC, Banks CM, McCloskey JE. Tetrahedron Lett. 1970;841-844. (c) Gopalan A, Magnus P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980;102:1756-1757. (d) Gopolan A, Magnus P. J. Org. Chem. 1984;49:2317-2321.
- 106. Grieco PA, Nishazawa M. J. Org. Chem. 1977;42:1717-1720.
- 107. Magari H, Hirota H, Takahashi T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1987:1196-1198.
- 108. Kato K, Hirata Y, Yamamura S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1970:1324.
- 109. Niwa M, Nishiyama A, Iguchi M, Yamamura S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1975;48:2930-2934.
- 110. Frauenrath H. In: Houben-Weyl Vol. E 21 d. Stuttgart: Georg Thieme Verlag, 1995:3696-3726.

- (a) Ziegler FE, Piwinski JJ. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979;101:1611-1612.
 (b) Ziegler FE, Piwinski JJ. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980;102:880-882.
 (c) Raucher S, Burks, Jr. JE, Hwang K-J, Svedberg DP. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981;103:1853-1855.
- (a) Raucher S, Chi K-W, Hwang K-J, Burks, Jr. JE. J. Org. Chem. 1986;51:5503-5505.
 (b) Chi K-W, Raucher S. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 1989;10:465-466.
- 113. Chi K-W, Raucher S. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 1991;12:157-163.
- 114. For a review of the oxy-Cope rearrangement, see: Wilson SR. Org. React.(N.Y.) 1993;43:93-250.
- 115. Brown DS, Paquette LA. J. Org. Chem. 1992;57:4512-4521.
- (a) Evans DA, Golob AM. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975;97:4765-4766.
 (b) Macdonald TL, Natalie, Jr. KJ.; Prasad G, Sawyer JS. J. Org. Chem. 1986;51:1124-1126.
- (a) Paquette LA, DeRussy DT, Cottrell CE. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988;110:890-896. (b) Sworin M, Lin K-C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989;111:1815-1825. (c) Jisheng L, Gallardo T, White JB. J. Org. Chem. 1990;55:5426-5428. (d) Fan W, White JB. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993;34:957-960. (e) Janardhanam S, Shanmugam P, Rajagopalan K. Synth. Commun. 1993;23:311-323. (f) Paquette LA. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1995;9-17.
- 118. Still WC. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977;99:4186-4187.
- 119. Still WC. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979;101:2493-2495.
- 120. Hauptmann H, Mühlbauer G, Walker NPC. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986;27:1315-1318.
- 121. (a) Kuwahara S, Mori K. Heterocycles 1989;28:167-170. (b) Kuwahara, S, Mori K. Tetrahedron 1990;46:8075-8082.
- (a) Mori K, Kuwahara S, Igarashi Y. Pure Appl. Chem. 1990;62:1307-1310.
 (b) Kuwahara S, Mori K. Tetrahedron 1990;46:8083-8092.
 (c) Mori M, Okada K, Shimazaki K, Chuman T, Kuwahara S, Kitahara T, Mori K. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1990:1769-1777.
 (d) Mori M, Okada K, Shimazaki K, Chuman T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990;31:4037-4040.
 (e) Hashimoto S, Miyazaki Y, Shiro M, Ikegami S. Chem. Lett. 1995:1091-1092.
- 123. Zhao R-B, Wu Y-L. Acta Chim. Sin. Engl. Ed. 1989:86-87.
- 124. (a) Kuroda C, Hirota H, Takahashi T. Chem. Lett. 1982:249–252. (b) Kuroda C, Nakamura T, Hirota H, Enomoto K, Takahashi T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1985;58:146–151. (c) Utagawa A, Hirota H, Ohno S, Takahashi T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1988;61:1207–1211.
- 125. Nakamura T, Hirota H, Kuroda C, Takahashi T. Chem. Lett. 1986:1879-1882.
- 126. Still WC, Murata S, Revial G, Yoshihara K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983;105:625-627.
- 127. Schreiber SL, Santini, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981;22:4651-4654.
- 128. (a) Schreiber SL, Santini C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984;106:4038-4039. (b) Schreiber SL. Science 1985;227:857-863.
- 129. Schreiber SL, Hawley RC. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985;26:5971-5974.

Biographical sketch



Adriaan J. Minnaard



Joannes B. P. A. Wijnberg



Aede de Groot

Adriaan J. Minnaard was born in 1968 in Kruiningen, The Netherlands, and obtained his M.Sc. at the Wageningen Agricultural University in 1986. He completed his Ph.D. thesis, entitled "Germacrane Sesquiterpenes, Synthesis and Role in Biosynthesis", at the same university in 1997 under the supervision of Dr. J. B. P. A. Wijnberg and Professor A. de Groot. Since then he has been working in the Organic Chemistry & Biotechnology Section of DSM Research, the central research organisation of the DSM group. His current interests include the synthesis and resolution of amino acids.

Joannes B. P. A. Wijnberg received his Ph.D. degree in 1979 under the direction of Professor W. N. Speckamp at the University of Amsterdam. He spent a year at the same university, as a postdoctoral fellow with Professor Th. J. de Boer. He then joined the group of Professor A. de Groot at the Wageningen Agricultural University studying natural product synthesis and chemical consequences of long-range orbital interactions in rigid 1,4-diol monosulfonate esters. His current research interests focus on the total synthesis of natural lactarane and marasmane sesquiterpenes, and the isolation and identification of halogenated metabolites from mushrooms.

Aede de Groot obtained his M.Sc. in 1964 at the University of Groningen and his Ph.D. in 1967 under the direction of Professor H. Wijnberg at the same university. He was a postdoctoral fellow with Professor E. E. van Tamelen, where he had his first training in the synthesis of natural products. From 1969-1971 he gained industrial experience at the Dutch State Mines (DSM) on electro-organic synthesis, and after that he was an assistant professor at the Technical University of Eindhoven. In 1972 he was appointed full professor at the Wageningen Agricultural University, a position he still holds today.

- Fields of research:
- Total synthesis of natural products, especially sesqui- and diterpenes with fysiologically attractive properties in the field of crop-protection (antifeedants, repellants, pheromones), therapeutics, and flavour and fragrances.
- Synthesis starting from abundantly available chiral natural products, mostly terpenes and steroids (agrification).
- Phytochemistry, isolation and identification of semiochemicals and therapeutics.
- Enzymes in organic synthesis and their application in biotechnology.